**RECEIVED**

**Apr 08 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM WILLIAMSBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable S. Bryan Doby  
Third Judicial Circuit

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-002019  
Circuit Court Case No. 2024-CP-45-00502

---

William Ward and Charlotte Ward, Plaintiffs / Respondents,

v.

AmeriCredit Financial Services, Inc. d/b/a GM Financial; Windingmakia Automotive Group, LLC  
D/B/A Winding Chevrolet GMC; Michael Winding; and Andrew Efird, Defendants,

Of whom, AmeriCredit Financial Services, Inc. d/b/a GM Financial is the Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

/s/ Richard Carlton Keller

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. Whether the Trial Court Erred in Denying GM Financial’s Motion to Compel Arbitration?**
- II. Whether the Trial Court Erred by Ruling on the Scope of the Arbitration Provision When the Arbitration Provision Contains a Clear and Unmistakable Delegation Clause Delegating Threshold Issues of Arbitrability, Interpretation and Scope to an Arbitrator?**
- III. Whether the Trial Court Erred in Holding that the Claims in this Action Are Outside the Scope of the Arbitration Provision?**
- IV. Whether the Trial Court Erred in Finding that the Arbitration Provision is Unconscionable?**
- V. Whether the Trial Court Erred in Failing to Sever Any Alleged Unconscionable Terms?**

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal arises from the trial court’s Order denying Appellant AmeriCredit Financial Services, Inc. d/b/a GM Financial’s (“GM Financial”) Motion to Compel Arbitration. This Court should reverse the trial court’s Order and remand to the trial court with instructions to compel this dispute to arbitration pursuant to the parties’ Arbitration Provision.

On March 27, 2023, Respondent William Ward (“Mr. Ward”) entered into a Retail Installment Contract (“2023 Contract”) to finance the purchase of a 2023 Chevrolet Silverado (“2023 Chevrolet”) from Patriot Chevrolet of Darlington (“Dealer”) in Darlington, South Carolina. (See Mot. to Compel, Ex. A – Affidavit of Lonnie Wilson, Jr. [hereinafter, “Wilson Aff.”] ¶ 4; *id.* Ex. 1; R. pp. 98-102.) The Dealer immediately assigned and transferred its entire interest in the Contract and related documents to GM Financial. (See Wilson Aff. ¶ 6; *id.* Ex. 1 at 5; R. p. 102.) GM Financial provided the financing for the 2023 Contract. (See Wilson Aff. ¶ 8.; R. p. 95, ¶ 8.) The 2023 Contract also contains an arbitration provision (the “Arbitration Provision”), which states in relevant part as follows:

<p><b>ARBITRATION PROVISION</b></p> <p><b>PLEASE REVIEW - IMPORTANT - AFFECTS YOUR LEGAL RIGHTS</b></p> <p><b>1. EITHER YOU OR WE MAY CHOOSE TO HAVE ANY DISPUTE BETWEEN US DECIDED BY ARBITRATION AND NOT IN COURT OR BY JURY TRIAL.</b></p> <p><b>2. IF A DISPUTE IS ARBITRATED, YOU WILL GIVE UP YOUR RIGHT TO PARTICIPATE AS A CLASS REPRESENTATIVE OR CLASS MEMBER ON ANY CLASS CLAIM YOU MAY HAVE AGAINST US INCLUDING ANY RIGHT TO CLASS ARBITRATION OR ANY CONSOLIDATION OF INDIVIDUAL ARBITRATIONS.</b></p> <p><b>3. DISCOVERY AND RIGHTS TO APPEAL IN ARBITRATION ARE GENERALLY MORE LIMITED THAN IN A LAWSUIT, AND OTHER RIGHTS THAT YOU AND WE WOULD HAVE IN COURT MAY NOT BE AVAILABLE IN ARBITRATION.</b></p> <p>Any claim or dispute, whether in contract, tort, statute or otherwise (including the interpretation and scope of this Arbitration Provision, any allegation of waiver of rights under this Arbitration Provision, and the arbitrability of the claim or dispute), between you and us or our employees, agents, successors or assigns, which arises out of or relates to your credit application, purchase or condition of this Vehicle, this contract or any resulting transaction or relationship (including any such relationship with third parties who do not sign this contract) shall, at your or our election, be resolved by neutral binding arbitration and not by a court action. If federal law provides that a</p>
---

claim or dispute is not subject to binding arbitration, this Arbitration Provision shall not apply to such claim or dispute. Any claim or dispute is to be arbitrated by a single arbitrator on an individual basis and not as a plaintiff in a collective or representative action, or a class representative or member of a class on any class claim. The arbitrator may not preside over a consolidated, representative, class, collective, injunctive, or private attorney general action. You expressly waive any right you may have to arbitrate a consolidated, representative, class, collective, injunctive, or private attorney general action. You or we may choose the American Arbitration Association ([www.adr.org](http://www.adr.org)) or National Arbitration and Mediation ([www.namadr.com](http://www.namadr.com)) as the arbitration organization to conduct the arbitration. If you and we agree, you or we may choose a different arbitration organization. You may get a copy of the rules of an arbitration organization by contacting the organization or visiting its website.

\*\*\*\*\*

Any arbitration under this Arbitration Provision shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C §§ 1 et seq.) and not by any state law concerning arbitration. Any award by the arbitrator shall be in writing and will be final and binding on all parties, subject to any limited right to appeal under the Federal Arbitration Act.

\*\*\*\*\*

This Arbitration Provision shall survive any termination, payoff or transfer of this contract. If any part of this Arbitration Provision, other than waivers of class rights, is deemed or found to be unenforceable for any reason, the remainder shall remain enforceable.

(See Ex. 1 to Wilson Aff. at 4; R. p. 101.) Mr. Ward also signed a provision in the 2023 Contract that reads as follows:

**You agree to the terms of this contract. You confirm that before you signed this contract, we gave it to you, and you were free to take it and review it. You acknowledge that you have read all pages of this contract, including the arbitration provision on page 4, before signing below. You confirm that you received a completely filled-in copy when you signed it.**

Buyer Signs  Date 3/27/2023 Co-Buyer Signs X N/A Date N/A  
Buyer Printed Name William Brian Ward Co-Buyer Printed Name N/A  
If the "business" use box is checked in "Primary Use for Which Purchased": Print Name N/A Title N/A

Co-Buyers and Other Owners — A co-buyer is a person who is responsible for paying the entire debt. An other owner is a person whose name is on the title to the vehicle but does not have to pay the debt. The other owner agrees to the security interest in the vehicle given to us in this contract.

Other owner signs here X N/A Address N/A  
Seller signs Patriot Chevrolet of Darlington Date 3/27/2023 By  Title FWD

(See *id.*, R. p. 102.)

Respondents Mr. Ward and Charlotte Ward (“Mrs. Ward”) (collectively, “Respondents”), filed this action on or about December 2, 2024. (See Complaint; R. pp. 16-34.) On February 14, 2025, Respondents filed their Amended Complaint. (See Amended Complaint; R. pp. 35-53.) Respondents assert in their Amended Complaint that Mr. Ward executed, among other things, a

Retail Installment Contract (“2024 Contract”) for the purchase of a 2024 GMC Sierra 1500 (“2024 GMC”) from WindingMakia Automotive Group, LLC d/b/a Winding Chevrolet GMC (“Winding Chevrolet”) (*See id.*; R. pp. 37-38, ¶ 18.) Respondents claim that during the execution of the 2024 Contract, Winding Chevrolet agreed to accept the 2023 Chevrolet as a trade-in. (*See id.*) Respondents further allege that as part of the 2024 Contract, Winding Chevrolet agreed to pay off the remaining balance owed to GM Financial on the 2023 Contract in the amount of \$36,358.92. (*See id.*) Ultimately, Respondents contend that Winding Chevrolet failed to pay off the remaining balance owed under the 2023 Contract and that GM Financial improperly continued to demand payments for the remaining balance on the 2023 Contract. (*See id.*; R. pp. 38-39, ¶¶ 25-29.) Additionally, Respondents contend that on or about October 16, 2024, GM Financial repossessed the 2023 Chevrolet and sold it at auction. (*See id.*; R. p. 39, ¶¶ 30-31.)

Based on the foregoing allegations, Respondents’ Amended Complaint asserts claims against GM Financial to include: (1) negligence, gross negligence and negligence *per se*; (2) unfair trade practices; (3) *quantum meruit*/unjust enrichment; (4) unclean hands; and (5) outrage. (*See id.*; R. pp. 39-46.)

On March 12, 2025, GM Financial filed its Answer and Affirmative Defenses to Respondents’ Amended Complaint. (*See Answer*; R. pp. 54-71.) Thereafter, on March 27, 2025, GM Financial filed its Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay Case. (*See Mot. to Compel*; R. pp. 71-176.)

On March 28, 2025, GM Financial filed a Motion for Protective Order and Stay of Discovery pending resolution of GM Financial’s Motion to Compel Arbitration. (*See Mot. for Protective Order*; R. pp. 177-197.)

On July 9, 2025, Respondents filed their Memorandum in Opposition to GM Financial's Motion to Compel Arbitration. (*See* Memo. in Opp.; R. pp. 198-217.) Respondent's Memorandum in Opposition did not contest that Mr. Ward entered into the 2023 Contract, nor did they challenge the applicability of the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"), 9 U.S.C. § 1, *et seq.* (*See id.*) Furthermore, Respondents did not challenge GM Financial's argument that Mrs. Ward was estopped from avoiding arbitration of her claims despite being a non-signatory to the 2023 Contract. (*See id.*) Instead, Respondents argued that: (1) their claims were outside the scope of the Arbitration Provision; (2) the Arbitration Provision was unconscionable; and (3) the trial court should exercise its discretion in denying GM Financial's Motion to Compel Arbitration. (*See id.*)

The trial court held a hearing on GM Financial's Motion to Compel Arbitration on July 10, 2025. (*See* Transcript of 07/10/2025 Hrg.; R. pp. 253-278.) The trial court permitted GM Financial to file a Reply in Support of its Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay Case, which it did on July 18, 2025. (*See* Reply; R. pp. 218-235.)

On July 28, 2025, the trial court issued a Form 4 Order denying GM Financial's Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay Case as well as GM Financial's Motion for Protective Order and Stay of Discovery and found that "the causes of action in this case are not connected to the original transaction and compelling arbitration would be unconscionable." (*See* 07/28/2025 Order; R. pp. 3-5.)

On August 20, 2025, the Court issued a second Order holding that: (1) the Arbitration Provision did not clearly and unmistakably delegate the issue of whether a valid arbitration agreement exists; (2) the claims asserted in Respondents' Amended Complaint were outside the scope of the Arbitration Provision; and (3) the Arbitration Provision was unconscionable due to

Mr. Ward's lack of meaningful choice and the oppressive nature of its terms. (*See* 08/20/2025 Order; R. pp. 6-8.)

On August 25, 2025, GM Financial filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the trial court's July 28, 2025 Order. (*See* Mot. To Alter or Amend, R. pp. 236-248.) The trial court denied this Motion in a single Form 4 Order dated September 26, 2025. (*See* 09/26/2025 Order; R. pp. 9-11.)

On September 30, 2025, Respondents filed a Motion to Reconsider the trial court's September 26, 2025 Order to expressly hold that GM Financial's Motion to Alter or Amend was denied due to GM Financial's failure to comply with SCRPC Rule 59(g). (*See* Mot. to Reconsider; R. pp. 249-252.) On the same date, the trial court entered a new Order clarifying that in addition to the reasons previously set forth in its Form 4 Order dated September 26, 2025, GM Financial's Motion to Alter or Amend was denied for the additional reason that GM Financial failed to provide a copy of its Motion to Alter or Amend to the trial court within ten (10) days after the filing of the Motion. (*See* 09/30/2025 Order; R. pp. 12-15.)

GM Financial filed its Notice of Appeal on October 1, 2025. Thereafter, GM Financial filed a Motion for Extension of Time to file its Initial Brief and Designation of Matter, which was granted by this Court.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

An appeal from the denial of a motion to compel arbitration is subject to de novo review. *Sanders v. Savannah Highway Auto. Co.*, 440 S.C. 377, 382, 892 S.E.2d 112, 114 (2023), *reh'g denied* (Sept. 27, 2023) (citing *Chassereau v. Global-Sun Pools, Inc.*, 363 S.C. 628, 631, 611 S.E.2d 305, 307 (Ct. App. 2005)).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. A Valid Written Arbitration Provision Exists, Which GM Financial is Entitled to Enforce.**

Respondents do not dispute that a written Arbitration Provision exists, that the FAA applies, or that Mrs. Ward is estopped from avoiding arbitration of her claims. (*See generally* Memo. in Opp.; R. pp. 198-217.) The FAA establishes that an arbitration agreement “shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable.” 9 U.S.C. § 2. Congress enacted the FAA to overcome long-standing judicial hostility toward pre-dispute arbitration agreements. *Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos. v. Dobson*, 513 U.S. 265, 270 (1995). Through passage of the FAA, Congress placed arbitration agreements “upon the same footing as other contracts.” *Shearson/Am. Express, Inc. v. McMahon*, 482 U.S. 220, 225-26 (1987) (quoting *Scherk v. Alberto-Culver Co.*, 417 U.S. 506, 511 (1974)). Indeed, the purpose behind the FAA is to promote the enforceability of arbitration agreements. *See Volt Info. Scis., Inc. v. Bd. of Trs. of Leland Stanford Junior Univ.*, 489 U.S. 468, 476 (1989) (the federal policy underlying the FAA “is simply to ensure the enforceability, according to their terms, of private agreements to arbitrate”). “By its terms, the Act leaves no place for the exercise of discretion by a district court, but instead mandates that district courts *shall* direct the parties to proceed to arbitration on issues as to which an arbitration agreement has been signed.” *Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc. v. Byrd*, 470 U.S. 213, 218 (1985) (emphasis in original); *Adkins v. Labor Ready, Inc.*, 303 F.3d 496, 500 (4th Cir. 2002) (holding that courts have “no choice but to grant a motion to compel arbitration where a valid arbitration agreement exists and the issues in a case fall within its purview”).

Thus, Congress, through its passage of the FAA, and the Supreme Court, through its interpretation of the Act, have together created a strong federal policy favoring the enforcement of arbitration agreements. Indeed, these policies are so strong that, “as a matter of federal law, any

doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration, whether the problem at hand is the construction of the contract language itself or an allegation of waiver, delay, or a like defense to arbitrability.” *Moses H. Cone Mem’l Hosp. v. Mercury Constr. Corp.*, 460 U.S. 1, 24-25 (1983); *see also Brown v. Santander Consumer USA Inc.*, No. CA 0:12-2825-CMC-PJG, 2013 WL 4017162, at \*2 (D.S.C. Aug. 5, 2013) (“Arbitration is compelled ‘unless it may be said with positive assurance that the arbitration [agreement] is not susceptible of an interpretation that covers the asserted dispute.’”) (quoting *Peoples Sec. Life Ins. Co. v. Monumental Life Ins. Co.*, 867 F.2d 809, 812 (4th Cir. 1989)). As shown more fully herein, the trial court erred in ignoring this strong federal and state policy of encouraging arbitration in denying GM Financial’s Motion.<sup>1</sup>

**II. The Trial Court Erred by Reaching the Issue of Whether Respondents’ Claims Fell Within the Scope of the Arbitration Provision Where the Arbitration Provision Delegated Issues of Arbitrability, Interpretation and Scope to the Arbitrator.**

The Arbitration Provision expressly delegates any disputes regarding “the interpretation and scope of this Arbitration Provision, any allegation of waiver of rights under this Arbitration Provision, and the arbitrability of the claim or dispute” to be determined by the arbitrator and not by any court. (*See Ex. 1 to Wilson Aff. at 4; R. p. 101.*) Furthermore, the Arbitration Provision incorporates the rules of both the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”) and National

---

<sup>1</sup> A myriad of courts nationwide presented with GM Financial’s Arbitration Provision have held that the Arbitration Provision is enforceable under the FAA and state contract law principles. *See, e.g., Shabazz v. AmeriCredit Fin. Servs. Inc.*, No. 4:25CV197 HEA, 2025 WL 2958764 (E.D. Mo. Oct. 17, 2025) (applying the FAA and holding that GM Financial’s Arbitration Provision is enforceable, compelling plaintiff’s claims to arbitration); *Carter v. AmeriCredit Fin. Servs., Inc.*, No. 8:25-cv-493-KKM-AEP, 2025 WL 1880197 (M.D. Fla. June 20, 2025) (same); *Meza v. General Motors Fin. Co., Inc.*, No. EDCV 19-449 JCB (KKx), 2019 WL 12374012 (C.D. Cal. Aug. 2, 2019) (same); *Kolman v. General Motors Fin. Co., Inc.*, No. 5:18-CV-300-BO, 2018 WL 6620888 (E.D.N.C. Dec. 18, 2018) (same).

Arbitration and Mediation (“NAMS”). (*See id.*) Therefore, questions regarding the interpretation and scope of the Arbitration Provision, as well as the arbitrability of Respondents’ claims, are properly reserved for the arbitrator and the trial court erred by reaching these issues.

In *Rent-A-Center*, the United States Supreme Court acknowledged the right of parties to include delegation clauses in arbitration agreements, whereby they “agree to arbitrate ‘gateway’ questions of ‘arbitrability,’ such as whether the parties have agreed to arbitrate or whether their agreement covers a particular controversy.” 561 U.S. at 68–69 (citing *Howsam v. Dean Witter Reynolds*, 537 U.S. 79, 83–85 (2002)). To be enforceable, the parties’ intent to arbitrate the issue of arbitrability must be demonstrated by “clear and unmistakable evidence.” *Id.* at 79; *First Options, Inc.*, 514 U.S. at 944. Such evidence may include explicit language in a delegation provision or the incorporation of an arbitral forum’s rules that provide for delegation. *See, e.g., Ward v. Discover Bank*, No. 3:19-cv-02124-SAL, 2020 WL 1922908, at \*3 (D.S.C. Apr. 21, 2020) (“By incorporating the rules governing arbitration before the AAA and JAMS, the parties agreed to have [the question of arbitrability] resolved by arbitration.”); *Green v. Rent-A-Center East, Inc.*, No. 0:15-cv-3245-MGL-TER, 2015 WL 8907452, at \*3–4 (D.S.C. Nov. 24, 2015) (finding that the “clear and unmistakable” standard was satisfied by language stating that the arbitrator had exclusive authority “to resolve any dispute relating to the interpretation, applicability, enforceability, or formation of this Agreement”). Importantly, the Supreme Court has stated, in no unclear terms, that “if a valid [arbitration] agreement exists, and if the [arbitration] agreement delegates the arbitrability issues to the arbitrator, a court *may not* decide the arbitrability issue.” *Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer & White Sales, Inc.*, 586 U.S. 63, 69 (2019) (emphasis added).

The Supreme Court has clarified that “questions of arbitrability” include not only the scope of an arbitration provision, but also “allegation[s] of waiver, delay, or a like defense to

arbitrability.” *Howsam v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc.*, 537 U.S. 79, 84–85 (2002) (quoting *John Wiley & Sons, Inc. v. Livingston*, 376 U.S. 543, 557 (1964)). These procedural questions “are presumptively *not* for the judge, but for an arbitrator, to decide.” *Id.* (emphasis in original). Thus, “in the absence of an agreement to the contrary, . . . issues of procedural arbitrability, *i.e.*, whether prerequisites such as time limits, notice, laches, estoppel, and other conditions precedent to an obligation to arbitrate have been met, are for the arbitrators to decide.” *Id.* at 85 (quoting Revised Uniform Arbitration Act § 6, comment 2, 7 U.L.A., at 13)) (emphasis in original).

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