RECEIVED

Apr 22 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM WILLIAMSBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable S. Bryan Doby
Third Judicial Circuit

Appellate Case No. 2025-002019
Circuit Court Case No. 2024-CP-45-00502

William Ward and Charlotte Ward, Respondents,

v.

AmeriCredit Financial Services, Inc. d/b/a GM Financial; Windingmakia
Automotive Group, LLC d/b/a Winding Chevrolet GMC; Michael Winding; and
Andrew Efird, Defendants,

of which, AmeriCredit Financial Services, Inc. d/b/a GM Financial is the
Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

s/Alexander S. Hogsette

E. Hood Temple, SC Bar No. 12962

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

ARGUMENT

This appeal arises from GM Financial’s attempt to compel arbitration of a dispute arising from a 2024 purchase transaction by invoking an arbitration provision contained in an unrelated 2023 purchase agreement with a different, non-party dealership. The circuit court correctly rejected that effort, finding that Respondent’s claims arise from the independent 2024 transaction with Winding Chevrolet, that the arbitration provision did not clearly and unmistakably delegate the validity determination, that there was no valid agreement to arbitrate, and that the provision was unconscionable under South Carolina law. In addition, the circuit court properly dismissed GM Financial’s Rule 59(e) motion as procedurally defective under Rule 59(g), SCRPC. Each of these rulings independently supports affirmance.

I. This Appeal Must Be Dismissed For Lack of Jurisdiction.

A. GM Financial’s Rule 59(e) Motion was procedurally defective under Rule 59(g), SCRPC, providing an independent basis to affirm the circuit court’s order.

The Appellant is not entitled to pursue this appeal because its Rule 59(e) motion was dismissed as a matter of law for failure to comply with Rule 59(g), SCRPC, and therefore did not toll the time for appeal. Rule 59(g), SCRPC, expressly requires that “[t]he moving party shall provide a copy of the motion to the judge within ten (10) days after the filing of the motion.” This requirement is mandatory. SCRPC Rule 59(g). The South Carolina Court of Appeals has held that a trial court may deny a Rule 59(e) motion solely for failure to comply with Rule 59(g). *Smith v. Fedor*, 809 S.E.2d 612, 422 S.C. 118 (S.C. App. 2017); *Gallagher v. Evert*, 353 S.C. 59, 63-64, 577 S.E.2d 217, 219 (Ct. App. 2002).

The Circuit Court denied Appellant’s motions to stay litigation and to compel arbitration on August 20, 2025. Appellant thereafter filed a Rule 59(e), SCRCF motion on August 25, 2025, but failed to provide a copy of its Rule 59(e) motion to the presiding judge within ten days of filing. Instead, it transmitted the motion to the presiding judge by e-mail on September 24, 2025, thirty (30) days after filing. This failure rendered the motion procedurally defective.

On September 30, 2025, the Circuit Court expressly ruled that Appellant’s Rule 59(e) motion was procedurally defective and “must be dismissed as a matter of law for failing to comply with Rule 59(g), SCRCF,” and reconfirmed its denial of the motion to compel arbitration.

Because Appellant’s Rule 59(e) motion was dismissed as a matter of law for failure to comply with Rule 59(g), it did not constitute a valid post-trial motion capable of tolling the time for appeal. Only a timely and proper Rule 59(e) motion tolls the appeal period. *See* Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR. An improper Rule 59 motion does not extend appellate deadlines. Accordingly, the Appellant cannot rely upon that motion to invoke appellate jurisdiction.

Absent a timely and properly served Rule 59(e) motion, the time to appeal ran from the August 20, 2025 Order denying arbitration. Any Notice of Appeal filed outside the thirty-day period following that Order is untimely, and this Court lacks jurisdiction under Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR. Appellant filed its Notice of Appeal on October 1, 2025, which was untimely. As such, the appeal should be dismissed on that independent ground alone.

(i) Preservation of the Issue

This issue is preserved for appellate review. Respondents expressly raised Appellant’s failure to comply with Rule 59(g) and filed a timely Rule 59(e) motion seeking clarification. On September 30, 2025, the Circuit Court entered an Order expressly ruling that Appellant’s Rule 59(e) motion “must be dismissed as a matter of law for failing to comply with Rule 59(g), SCRCF.”

Because the trial court ruled squarely on the issue, it is preserved for appellate review. *See Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998).

II. Even If This Court Finds Jurisdiction, The Denial of Arbitration Should Be Affirmed.

A. The circuit court properly decided the threshold issue of validity because the arbitration provision does not clearly and unmistakably delegate that question to an arbitrator.

Appellant contends that the circuit court lacked authority to determine whether the arbitration provision is valid and enforceable and was instead required to submit that question to an arbitrator. That is incorrect. The crux of Respondents' claim is that he never consented to the arbitration agreement. Because arbitration under the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") rests entirely upon consent, a court, not an arbitrator, must determine whether an agreement to arbitrate was ever formed. *Simmons v. Benson Hyundai, LLC*, 438 S.C. 1, 5, 881 S.E.2d 646, 648 (Ct. App. 2022) (citing *Volt Info. Scis., Inc. v. Bd. of Trs. of Leland Stanford Junior Univ.*, 489 U.S. 468, 478 (1989) ("[T]he FAA does not require parties to arbitrate when they have not agreed to do so.")). Section 4 of the FAA prohibits compulsion of arbitration unless the court is satisfied "the making of the agreement for arbitration ... is not in issue." 9 U.S.C. § 4. The United States Supreme Court has repeatedly held that disputes concerning whether an arbitration agreement was ever concluded, its formation or existence, are for the court to decide. *See Granite Rock Co. v. Int'l Bhd. of Teamsters*, 561 U.S. 287, 296, (2010) (noting it is "well settled that where the dispute at issue concerns contract formation, the dispute is generally for courts to decide"); *Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer & White Sales, Inc.*, 139 S. Ct. 524, 530 (2019) ("To be sure, before referring a dispute to an arbitrator, the court determines whether a valid arbitration agreement exists."); *Rowland v. Sandy Morris Fin. & Est. Plan. Servs., LLC*, 993 F.3d 253, 257–58 (4th Cir. 2021).

In determining whether an agreement exists, courts apply state contract law. *First Options*, 514 U.S. 938 at 944. Under South Carolina law, a contract cannot be formed without a meeting of the minds between the parties as to all essential and material terms. *Player v. Chandler*, 299 S.C. 101, 105 (1989). The parties must also “manifest a mutual intent to be bound.” *Stanley Smith & Sons v. Limestone Coll.*, 283 S.C. 430, 433, 322 S.E.2d 474, 477 (Ct. App. 1984). And even where a contract contains a purported delegation clause, that delegation must be “clear and unmistakable.” *First Options*, 514 U.S. 938 at 944. Any ambiguity must be resolved against delegation and in favor of judicial determination. *Id.*

Appellant relies heavily on delegation and scope cases, but those authorities presuppose a valid and enforceable arbitration agreement. The threshold question here is whether a valid arbitration agreement exists at all. The circuit court answered that threshold question in the negative, and that conclusion ends the inquiry.

(i) South Carolina law confirms validity challenges are for the court.

Our Supreme Court addressed this issue in *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, where, as here, the consumer challenged the arbitration clause as unconscionable and thus unenforceable. *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 644 S.E.2d 663 (2007). Although the clause purported to apply to disputes concerning “the validity and scope,” the Court held that when the validity of the arbitration provision itself is challenged, the issue is for the court because the challenge calls into question whether the parties ever agreed to arbitrate in the first place. *Id.* at 23-24. The court further explained where a party challenges the validity of the entire arbitration clause on grounds of unconscionability, there can be no “clear and unmistakable” evidence that the parties agreed to arbitrate. Accordingly, the Court did not err in deciding validity rather than submitting the matter to arbitration. *Id.*

That reasoning controls here. Because Respondents challenge the arbitration provision itself as unconscionable and unenforceable, the circuit court properly resolved the threshold question of validity and correctly concluded that delegation was not “clear and unmistakable.” Courts do not send parties to arbitration to decide whether they ever agreed to arbitrate in the first place. *See Id.* Instead, it remains for the court to decide whether a valid arbitration agreement exist. *See Henry Schein*, 139 S. Ct. 524 at 530 (“To be sure, before referring a dispute to an arbitrator, the court determines whether a valid arbitration agreement exists.”); *See* 9 U.S.C. § 2.

(ii) The Court of Appeals’ two-step framework likewise requires judicial resolution of validity first.

In *Simmons v. Benson Hyundai, LLC*, the Court of Appeals set forth a two-process framework: (1) first, resolve any challenge to the formation of the arbitration agreement (consistent with *Granite Rock*); and (2) second, determine whether subsequent challenges are directed to the entire agreement or specifically to the arbitration clause (consistent with *Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin Mfg. Co.*) *Simmons*, 438 S.C. 1, 881 S.E.2d 646; *Granite Rock*, 561 U.S. 287; *Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin Mfg. Co.*, 388 U.S. 395 (1967); *See also Solymar Invs., Ltd. v. Banco Santander S.A.*, 672 F.3d 981, 990 (11th Cir. 2012) (describing two-step process and explaining that “*Granite Rock’s* threshold inquiry of whether a contract was formed necessarily precedes “the determination of whether any subsequent challenges are to the entire agreement, or to the arbitration clause specifically” under the severability principle).

Federal courts have applied the same rule. The federal court in *In re StockX Customer Data Sec. Breach Litig.* adopts a similar two-step process, holding that even where a delegation provision purports to require arbitration of formation or ‘existence of an agreement in the first instance’ issues, courts must decide challenges to whether an agreement “was in fact agreed to” or “was ever concluded”. *In re StockX Customer Data Sec. Breach Litig.* 19 F.4th 873, 879-80 (6th

Cir. 2021) (quoting *VIP, Inc. v. KYB Corp.* (In re Auto. Parts Antitrust Litig.), 951 F.3d 377, 386 (6th Cir. 2020)); accord *MZM Constr. Co. v. N.J. Bldg. Laborers Statewide Benefit Funds*, 974 F.3d 386, 400–02 (3d Cir. 2020).

Under this settled framework, the circuit court was required to determine whether a valid agreement to arbitrate exists before compelling arbitration.

(iii) Respondents’ unconscionability challenge itself defeats “clear and unmistakable” delegation.

Respondents challenge the arbitration provision itself as unconscionable. That challenge necessarily undermines any claim that Respondent “clearly and unmistakably” agreed to arbitrate validity and enforceability. The court must resolve the merits of Respondents’ unconscionability claim in order to determine whether a valid agreement exists. Where the issue presented is whether the arbitration provision is enforceable at all, the court must decide that threshold question before any delegation can operate. The circuit court properly resolved that threshold issue.

(iv) References to AAA and/or NAM rules do not establish clear and unmistakable delegation

Appellant also argues that references to the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”) and the National Arbitration and Mediation (“NAM”) rules establish delegation. But mere incorporation by reference does not bypass judicial review when validity is at issue. *See Simmons*, 438 S.C. 1, 881 S.E.2d 646 (reaffirming that formation challenges must be resolved first). This is particularly true where the alleged delegation is embedded in a consumer adhesion contract, essential terms are not reasonably communicated, and Respondents challenge the very existence and enforceability of the arbitration agreement.

Here, the arbitration provision references AAA rules, NAM rules, and further permits selection of an entirely different arbitration organization. No copies of the AAA or NAM rules

were attached to the contract or provided to Respondent prior to execution. Because arbitration organizations may employ materially different procedural rules, including rules governing discovery, whichever rule set applies could substantially affect the rights of the parties and the substantive outcome. Without reasonable access to these material rules allegedly incorporated into the agreement, and without clarity as to which set of rules would govern, Respondent could not knowingly and voluntarily assent to any purported delegation of arbitrability. *See Spooone v. State*, 379 S.C. 138, 142, 665 S.E.2d 605, 607 (2008). (“[a] waiver will be held effective only if it is knowing and voluntary.”). Here, there was no knowing waiver where the governing rules and even the governing forum are left uncertain.²

The arbitration clause’s internal uncertainty underscores the problem. AAA Consumer Rule 1(a) makes AAA’s rules an “essential term,” yet the provision simultaneously permits NAM rules or any other organization’s rules. That contradiction illustrates the lack of meeting of the minds as to which rules govern and defeats the “clear and unmistakable” standard. Where no rule set can be identified with certainty, the alleged delegation cannot be deemed clear and unmistakable. Any ambiguity must be resolved against delegation and in favor of judicial determination. *First Options*, 514 U.S. 938 at 944.

The arbitration provision does not clearly and unmistakably delegate validity, and Respondent’s unconscionability challenge required judicial resolution. Accordingly, the circuit court properly determined that the validity of the arbitration provision must be resolved by the court before any arbitration could be compelled. For these reasons, the circuit court acted well

² In deciding whether to arbitrate, a consumer is entitled to know the specifics of the governing arbitration rules so that he may make an informed decision regarding the waiver of important legal rights. Respondents submit that, as a matter of law, a consumer cannot knowingly and voluntarily waive those rights without reasonable prior access to the procedural rules that would govern the arbitration. Here, there is no evidence that any arbitration rules were ever provided to Respondents prior to execution of the agreement.

within its authority in deciding the threshold issue of validity, and the denial of arbitration should be affirmed.

B. The circuit court correctly found that the arbitration provision was unconscionable based on analysis of the facts, contract documents, and circumstances.

Even assuming arguendo that the arbitration provision could otherwise be enforced, the order must still be affirmed because the circuit court independently determined the provision is unconscionable under South Carolina law.

Arbitration is a matter of contract law and is available only when the parties involved contractually agreed to arbitrate. *See Simpson*, 373 S.C. 14, 644 S.E.2d 663. As such, a party may seek revocation of the arbitration agreement under “such grounds as exist at law or in equity,” including unconscionability. *Id.*; 9 U.S.C. §2. Arbitration will be denied if a court determines no agreement to arbitrate existed. *Id.* In determining whether a valid arbitration agreement exists, trial courts consider “general contract defenses” to ensure a meeting of the minds to arbitrate existed, and that such an agreement was not the result of “fraud, duress, [or] unconscionability.” *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 593, 553 S.E.2d 110, 116 (2001). Even in cases where the FAA otherwise applies, general principles of state contract law apply in a court’s evaluation of the validity and enforceability of an arbitration clause. *First Options*, 514 U.S. 938 at 944; *Simpson*, 373 S.C. 14 at 24, 553 S.E.2d 663 at 668; *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 539, 542 S.E.2d 360, 364 (2011).

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